IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

EDWARD CASTRO,

Appellant,

vs .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 71,982



JUN 13 1993

CLE ky.

C Deputy Clark

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32014 904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 29, 1987, the grand jury in and for Marion County returned an indictment charging Appellant, EDWARD CASTRO, with first degree murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985) and robbery with a deadly weapon in violation of Section 812.13(2) (a), Florida Statutes (1985). (R2517) Appellant filed numerous pretrial motions including a motion to suppress statements (R2597-2599) which was granted in part and denied in part (R2678), a motion for additional peremptory challenges. (R2586-2587) which was denied (R1239,2451), a motion to declare the death penalty unconstitutional (R2635-2675) which was denied (R2492-2493) and a motion for interrogatory penalty phase verdict (R2780-2782) which was denied. (R2180) Appellant proceeded to jury trial on January 19 - February 1, 1988, with the Honorable Victor J. Musleh, Circuit Judge, presiding. (R1-2221) Following deliberations, the jury returned

- 1 -

verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged. (R2089-2090,2727-2728) A penalty phase was conducted resulting in a 10-2 jury recommendation that Appellant be sentenced to death. (R2130-2220,2221,2729) Appellant filed a timely motion for new trial which was denied. (R2754-2755,2799) On February 9, 1988, Appellant appeared before Judge Musleh for sentencing. (R2498-2516) Appellant was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to death for the murder conviction and a concurrent term of 5½ years for robbery. (R2512-2514,2748-2752) Judge Musleh filed findings of facts in support of the death sentence. (R2759-2763) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (R2790) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him in this appeal. (R2791-2805)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

Around January 1, 1987, eighteen year old Robert McKnight and some friends hitchhiked from Sioux City, Iowa to Florida. (R1551-1552) At some point, McKnight's friends returned to Iowa leaving McKnight alone. (R1553) McKnight hitchhiked to Ocala arriving on January 10, 1987. (R1554) After checking in at the Salvation Army, McKnight went walking in the area of Sanchez Street where he met Appellant, Edward Castro, who introduced himself as Tony. (R1554-1555,1558) Appellant invited McKnight to have a couple of beers with him and McKnight accepted after initially refusing. (R1558) Appellant and McKnight went to apartment 11 at 226 Sanchez Street and drank some beer. (R1558,1640-1641) About 30-45 minutes later, Appellant ripped up a sheet, tied McKnight's hands, gagged him, stood over him and asked him where he wanted to be stabbed. (R1593) Appellant had a steak knife in his hand which he kept down by his side. (R1593,1597) McKnight was not harmed because Gallagher, the man who actually rented the apartment, came home and Appellant released McKnight and told him he was just testing him. (R1593,1594,1558) McKnight then moved in with Appellant and stayed for four days. (R1558,1595) Gallagher and Appellant talked about hopping a freight train and going to Detroit but McKnight was not interested so he stayed in an upstairs apartment with Dale Martin. (R1559) On that day, a Wednesday, McKnight woke up and went downstairs to Appellant's apartment to get his clothes. (R1560) There was an elderly gentleman present whom

3 –

McKnight had not seen before. (R1560) McKnight packed and left just as Appellant and the man left to get more beer. (R1560) As McKnight went upstairs Appellant came over to him and told him "this is my hit." (R1561) McKnight did not know what Appellant meant. (R1561) Appellant and the man got into a green Ford Maverick and McKnight went upstairs. (R1561) About ten minutes later as McKnight prepared to take a shower, Appellant came upstairs and invited McKnight downstairs. (r1562) McKnight got cleaned up, went back downstairs to apartment 11 an found the door locked. (R1562) McKnight knocked on the door and Appellant answered. (R1562) Once inside, McKnight noticed the elderly man was dead and Appellant was covered in blood from his fingertips to his elbows. (R1562) McKnight froze in shock as Appellant related that he had killed the man by crushing his larynx. (R1563) Appellant then told McKnight to pick up a steak knife and stab the man which McKnight did not want to do since the man was already dead. (R1563) Appellant ordered McKnight to do it or else he (McKnight) would be next. (R1564) Under this threat, McKnight picked up the knife and stabbed the man 4-5 times in the chest, after which Appellant told McKnight they were blood brothers. (R1564) Appellant and McKnight then proceeded to clean up the place using socks to wipe everything. (R1564) Before leaving, McKnight took the man's wallet and his change and Appellant took the man's two rings and his watch. (R1564-1565) Appellant removed his blood-soaked shirt and left it in the apartment. (R1565) The left side of Appellant's pants was covered in blood. (R1565) A blanket was put over the body so

- 4 -

that if the landlord came by it would appear that Gallagher had merely passed out. (R1565) Before leaving, Appellant stepped on the face of the man a couple of times. (R1566) Appellant opened the trunk of the man's car and found clothing, vodka and whiskey. (R1566) Appellant and McKnight got in the car and started driving to Lake City. (R1566) Appellant emptied the wallet and threw it out the window of the car. (R1568) On the way to Lake City, Appellant stopped at the rest stop where he tried to sell the rings and watch. (R1567) The steak knife was also thrown out of the car window. (R1569) As they drove to Lake City, Appellant drank both the vodka and the whiskey and by the time they arrived, Appellant was intoxicated. (R1569) Appellant pulled into a gas station to have the accelerator checked. (R1569) McKnight remained in the car while Appellant went to the (R1569) Several police cars pulled up, and Deputy restroom. Boatright approached McKnight and asked where the driver was. (R1570,1667) McKnight told the officer Appellant was in the bathroom, so the officers waited for him to come out. (R1570,1679) As Appellant returned, Deputy Hodson asked him if he was the driver of the green Maverick and Appellant replied affirmatively. (R1570,1667,1679) Appellant refused to give his name and became very belligerent, which resulted in his arrest for disorderly intoxication. (R1570,1667-1670,1680) Deputy Boatright believed that Appellant was intoxicated. (R1673) McKnight was permitted to leave and ended up taking a bus to Chicago where he was picked up by police officers. (R1571-1572) McKnight had an Ocala newspaper account of the murder of Austin Scott and told the

- 5 -

officers that he had information regarding the murders. (R1572) McKnight ultimately pled to the offense of accessory after the fact to murder and received five years probation in return for his agreement to testify for the state. (R1573,1583)

Appellant was taken to the Columbia County Jail about 5:00 p.m. on January 14, 1987, and placed alone in a holding Several times Officer Reich, the booking officer, cell. (R1791) had to tell Appellant to be quiet. (R1791) Officer Reich was very busy when Appellant was brought in and consequently could not begin the booking process on Appellant for approximately one (R1792) During this time, Appellant hinted that he had hour. something to tell Reich which could "put stripes on his sleeve", which Reich interpreted to mean could result in a promotion for (R1792) Reich got coffee and cigarettes for Appellant and him. noticed that Appellant's appearance was disheveled and he appeared to have blood on his pants. (R1793) As Reich finished some paperwork, he noticed Appellant tearing up little pieces of paper from his pocket and commenting that "they" would not find out who he was. (R1794) Reich and another officer went into the holding cell and searched Appellant and also retrieved the torn pieces of paper from the trash can. (R1794-1795) Reich found pieces of a social security card and a VA card as well as a 1937 World's Fair ring. (R1795) The identification cards had the names of Austin Gardner Scott and John Burns. (R1798) All of the items were given to Investigator Nydam. (R1797) Reich called Investigator Kay Gallegos who arrived and introduced herself to Appellant. (R1801-1802,1824) Gallegos read Appellant

- 6 -

his Miranda rights from a card and had Appellant sign a waiver of rights card which was witnessed by Reich. (R1802,1826) Reich noticed that Gallegos had put the wrong date on the waiver form, so he changed it from January 15, 1987 to January 14, 1987. (R1802,1803) Gallegos noticed no odor of alcohol about Appellant. (R1829) Appellant then related that he had killed a man in apartment 11 of a building located near Sanchez Street and North 3d Street in Ocala. (R1830) Appellant lured the man into the apartment because he wanted to steal his car. (R1807) When the man attempted to leave, Appellant grabbed the man and strangled him so hard that blood came out of his mouth. (R1813) Appellant related that the man seemed to gain more strength until a point when Appellant told him "You lose", pulled a steak knife out of his shoe and stabbed the man in the chest between five and fifteen times. (R1813) Reich claimed that as Appellant gave graphic details of the stabbing, Gallegos appeared sick and got up and left for a few minutes. (R1813) However, Gallegos denied this. (R1835)

After speaking with Appellant, Gallegos contacted Lieutenant Neal Nydam, chief of the homicide division, who came down to the jail and met with Appellant. (R1831,1814,1893-1894) Appellant was taken to Nydam's office where he was again given his rights and signed a waiver in the presence of Officer Reich and Investigator Gallegos. (R1896,1902-1903,1814-1815,1833) Once again the wrong date was put on the waiver form which Nydam changed. Prior to making a statement, Appellant requested to be kept out of general population and asked to see a psychiatrist.

- 7 -

(R1911) Appellant then recounted the details of the killing of Austin Scott. (R1913-1926) Nydam saw no evidence that Appellant was intoxicated. (R1906)

Investigator Howard Leary of the Ocala Police Department received a phone call from the Columbia County Sheriff's Department informing him that Appellant was in custody in the jail and that he had given a statement concerning a killing in Ocala. (R1929) Leary and Sergeant Andy Kreitmeyer went to Lake City and after speaking with Nydam, met with Appellant at 5:26 a.m. on January 15, 1987. (R1930,1944) Leary again advised Appellant of his rights after which Appellant agreed to give a statement. (R1930-1932) Although Appellant had a stale odor of alcohol about his person, he was not under the influence of (R1932-1933,1945) Appellant again gave a statement alcohol. detailing the killing of Austin Scott. (R1945,1971) After completion of the statement, Leary received the physical evidence from Nydam and returned to Ocala. (R1973) Leary went to the place described by Appellant and found the door to apartment 11 ajar. (R1973) Inside on the floor next to the bed was the body of Austin Scott, wrapped in a blanket. (R1974) On January 16, 1987, Dr. Jane Chen performed an autopsy on the body of Austin Scott. (R1690) There were deep bruises on the right and left sides of the forehead, above the forehead on the inside area of the eyes and around the neck. (R1691) There were multiple stab wounds to the left side of the chest, stab wounds to the right arm and a minor bruise to the left thigh. (R1691) The muscles in the neck were bruised and there was visible injury to the

- 8 -

larynx. (R1692) The left side of the hyoid was fractured as was the right side of the corner which were consistent with forceful strangulation. (R1693) There were eleven distinct stab wounds to the left chest of which seven were potentially fatal. (R1698 The strangulation occurred while Scott was alive but would have rendered him unconscious. (R1718-1720) Although the strangulation was sufficient to kill Scott, the immediate cause of death was excessive bleeding caused by the stab wounds. (R1719-1720) The stabbing was done while Scott as immobile and unconscious. (R1719,1725) Although Dr. Chen could not say for certain how long Scott survived before dying, she estimated it was possibly ten minutes. (R1729-1731)

Penalty Phase

Dr. Barbara Mara, an expert in clinical psychology, examined Appellant on January 18, 1988, at the Marion County Jail. (R2130,2136) Appellant came from a broken home and has a long history of abuse. (R2137) His father was an alcoholic and violent toward his mother. (R2138) Between the ages of 4 and 6, Appellant was the victim of sexual abuse at the hands of his babysitter and a 16 year old cousin who committed both anal sex and masturbation on him. (R2138,2139) Appellant feels guilt and remorse about this activity and has a lot of self-blame. (R2139)Beginning at age 16, Appellant became addicted to alcohol and (R2139) Although Appellant joined the military he drugs. received an undesirable discharge within a year because of alcohol and drug abuse. (R2139) Because he felt isolated

- 9 -

without a sense of belonging, Appellant became a bully. (R2140) Appellant was married and has two sons for whom he exhibits little concern. (R2140) Appellant has had six hospitalizations for alcohol treatment. (r2141) Appellant is subject to bouts of depression and his most expressive emotion is anger. (R2142) He fits the profile of an alcohol and drug addicted personality. (R2142) Appellant suffers from a mixed personality disorder which includes two or more of the following characteristics: Antisocial personality; schizo-type and alienated personality; poor social skills; obsessiveness; compulsiveness; self-indulgent; poor impulse control; and poor judgment. (R2143) In her opinion, Dr. Mara believes the following mitigating factors exist with regard to Appellant: 1) early history of neglect and abuse; 2) early history of incest; 3) early history of lack of belongingness and alienation; 4) lack of development of conscience; and 5) alcoholism and drug abuse. (R2143 - 2144)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: Admission of other bad acts of the defendant is prohibited where the only relevance such acts have is to show bad character of the defendant or his propensity to commit crimes. The admission of irrelevant evidence which has no bearing on any material issue of fact is also error. Appellant is entitled to a new trial due to the cumulative effect of the erroneous admission of this highly prejudicial and irrelevant evidence.

POINT 11: When an accused faces trial on multiple charges, especially in a capital case the trial court abuses its discretion when it refuses to grant his request for additional peremptory challenges.

POINT 111: The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress his statements. Where Appellant's initial statement was made in violation of <u>Miranda</u> it is presumed to be compelled and must be excluded from evidence. Before subsequent statements given pursuant to proper <u>Miranda</u> warnings may be admitted into evidence the trial court must determine the voluntariness of such statements. The failure of the trial court to do so in this case requires reversal.

POINT IV: It is reversible error for the trial court to respond to requests from the jury during its deliberations without affording the prosecutor, the defendant, or defendant's counsel

- 11 -

an opportunity to be present and object or request alternative courses of action.

POINT V: Defense counsel timely requested that the jury be given specific verdict forms in which they could delineate between felony murder and premeditated murder. The jury's verdict must be set aside since, although it could be supported on one ground (felony murder) it cannot be supported on the other (premeditated murder). On retrial this Court should require the special jury verdict forms to be given.

POINT VI: It is unnecessary that a jury sentence a defendant. However, Due Process requires that the jury determine the defendant's guilt or innocence of the crime for the sentence imposed. If the verdict does not include elements that define an offense, an increased sentence for that offense cannot be imposed. It is the prosecutor's burden to secure a jury verdict for all elements of the offense. Aggravating circumstances are limited solely to those specifically provided by statute. They actually define the crime of capital first-degree murder that is punishable by death. The aggravating circumstances thus become elements of the crime that must be found by the jury before the increased sanction of death may be lawfully imposed. Consequently it is error to deny timely request for special interrogatory verdicts regarding the aggravating factors.

POINT VII: In the penalty phase of a capital trial, the state is precluded from presenting irrelevant and highly prejudical evidence which has no probative value with regard with statutory aggravating circumstances or rebutting expressly relied-upon mitigating circumstances.

Where defense specifically relies upon non-statutory mitigating circumstances, it is reversible error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury that they may consider such evidence in mitigation. Additionally although use of the standard jury instructions is encouraged, where such instructions do not adequately inform the jury of their duties during deliberation, it is error to deny special requested instructions which correctly state the law and are particularly applicable to the facts of the case.

POINT VIII: A capital felony is not especially heinous, atrocious or cruel unless it is accompanied by such additional acts so as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies. Actions which occur after the murder is complete are not to be considered in determining whether the murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel.

In order to sustain a finding that a capital murder was cold, calculated and premeditated the state is required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt something more than mere premeditation. It is insufficient to prove merely that an underlying felony was planned.

- 13 -

Where the only valid aggravating circumstance present is that the capital murder was committed during the commission of a felony and where valid mitigating factors exist, proportionality requires that a death sentence be vacated and the cause remanded for imposition of a life sentence.

POINT IX: Although this Court has previously rejected numerous attacks to the constitutionality of the death penalty in Florida Appellant urges reconsideration particularly in light of the evolving body of case law which in some cases has served to invalidate the very basic cases on which the death penalty was upheld in the State of Florida.

POINT I

IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITU-TION AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 22 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING INTO EVIDENCE MATTERS THAT HAD NO RELEVANCE BUT WERE PREJUDICIAL.

Over objection of defense counsel, the state presented the expert testimony of officer Greg Stewart concerning blood spatter evidence. (R1842-1845,1855-1868) Also, the state was permitted, over defense objection, to elicit evidence of a steak knife which was found outside the apartment where the body of Austin Scott was found. (R1651-1656) However, Judge Musleh later ruled the knife to be inadmissible when the state sought to admit it into evidence. (R1760-1761) The state was again permitted to elicit, over defense objection, evidence that prior to the killing of Scott, Appellant had tied up Robert McKnight and threatened to stab him. (R1588-1592) Appellant contends that the admission of this evidence resulted in a denial of due process and was highly prejudicial.

A. ADMISSION OF OTHER BAD ACTS

The state filed a pre-trial notice of intent to admit evidence that prior to the killing of Austin Scott, Appellant had tied up Robert McKnight and threatened to stab him. (R2614) Defense counsel filed a motion in limine to prevent introduction of this evidence. (R2633-2634) At a pre-trial hearing, the state announced its intention <u>not</u> to present such testimony. (R2492) However, during the testimony of Robert McKnight at

- 15 -

trial, the state was permitted to elicit the very evidence it previously had abandoned. (R1588-1594) The state contended such evidence was relevant to show that McKnight was afraid of Appellant. (R1588-1592)

In <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959) this Court held that similar fact evidence which tends to reveal the commission of a collateral crime is admissible if it is relevant to a material fact in issue except where the sole relevancy is character or propensity of the accused. The <u>Williams</u> rule has been codified in Section 90.404(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1987) which provides:

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