scrived 1 day late

# THE THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDWARD CASTRO,

Appellant,

vs .

CASE NO. 71,982

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

A

SID J. WHETE	
AUG 🙎	C
CLERK, SYMPLIME CO	URT

Deputy Cierk

## ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050

(904) 488-1778

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

> The crux of appellant's argument is in light of that the various theories of first degree murder presented to the jury, a special verdict form was required to insure that the jury did not convict him under a theory and factual setting which would prohibit the imposition death of the sentence. We In Brown v. State, 473 disagree. So.2d 1260 (Fla., cert denied, U.S. , 106 U.S. S.Ct. 607, 80 L.Ed.2d 585, 1985,) we found no error in the trial court's refusal to use special verdict forms which would have indicated whether the first degree murder conviction was based upon premeditated murder or felony murder. 1265. Id. at now hold that a Similarly, we special verdict form is not required to determine whether a defendant's first degree murder conviction is premeditated murder, based upon

or

accomplice

murder

liability. 492 So,2d at 358.

felony

Similarly, appellant has demonstrated no basis upon which to modify the holdings in <u>Buford</u> or <u>Brown</u>. Appellant's reliance on the recent Supreme Court's decision in <u>Mills v. Maryland</u>,

U.S. 43 C.L.Rpt. 3056, June 6, 1988, does not change the outcome. In <u>Mills</u>, the United States Supreme Court was concerned with the ability of a Maryland jury to consider mitigating circumstances. Therein the question addressed whether Maryland could sustain a requirement of unanimity with regard to a finding of a mitigating circumstance. The dicta relied upon by appellant herein does not change or impact on the need for a special verdict form. See <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987). Based on the foregoing, appellee would urge the court to affirm the trial court's denial for special jury verdicts herein.

## ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR SPECIAL INTERROGATORY VERDICTS REGARDING THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Appellant next urges that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a interrogatory verdict regarding aggravating factors, seeking to have the jury give the specific vote on each aggravating which it found. Without citing authority for the proposition that the trial court erred, appellant argues that the reason such a vote is desirable is to protect against arbitrariness in the imposition of capital punishment. The practice and procedures formulated for the imposition of capital punishment neither mandate or require such a result. See Section 921.141 Florida Statutes. Moreover, it should be noted that in the instant case, the aggravating factors sought to be proved were limited. Appellant and the state entered into a stipulation as to the statutory mitigating factors. See Brown v. State, 473 So.2d 1260, 1271 (Fla. 1985) and Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976).

Based on the foregoing, appellee would submit appellant has failed to demonstrate any error.

## ISSUE VII

APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED DUE PROCESS BECAUSE OF THE ADMISSION OF IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE DURING THE PENALTY PHASE AND THE REFUSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT TO GIVE PROPER REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS.

Appellant next presents a three prong attack as to the propriety of circumstances occurring at the penalty phase. Specifically, he argues that questions asked of Dr. Mara concerning the mental health of former United States Senator Paula Hawkins was irrelevant and highly prejudicial; that he was denied specially requested jury instructions and that the trial court failed to instruct the jury that they may consider nonstatutory mitigating evidence in determining their recommendation.

# A. QUESTIONING OF DR. MARA.

Appellant first complains that the prosecution improperly inquired of Dr. Mara on cross-examination whether she had knowledge regarding former United State Senator Paula Hawkins who had publicly admitted to being a victim of sexual abuse as a child. (TR 2161-2163). The cross-examination was well within the limits for cross-examination based on the direct testimony presented by Dr. Mara that after reviewing and diagnosing Mr. Castro, she was able to determine that: ANSWER: Yes sir. I have gone over some of them briefly already in the total presentation, but just to list a few, you would look at the early history of neglect and abuse, and early history of neglect and deterioration.

No. 2. The early history of incest.

No. 3. The early history of lack of belonging, the alienation.

No. 4. The lack of development with what we call conscience, which usually begins about 3 or 4, appears as though the incest helped fixate that, helped stop it and delay it, and then a history of alcoholism and drug abuse.

<u>QUESTION</u>: Would you say, in your opinion, that the person that presented to you on the day in January, the person you evaluated, that he was what he is, what you have found him to be, because of what happened to him when he was a child, his experience as child?

ANSWER: In part, yes, sir.

<u>QUESTION</u>: Is anything about his development, the social history he presents to you, finding you have, is that normal with regard to someone who has been in his type of environment, his type of life?

ANSWER: Well, sir, what we have to look at is the research and literature in the field, in looking at what we know about side effects of abuse, these are often times, as I have cited as characteristic, some of the things that I mentioned as developing the side effects of abuse and incest, the different types of personality traits that delay development with the conscience, those kind of things are often times associated with an early history of abuse. (TR 2143-2144).

Clearly, based on the inquiry of Dr. Mara on direct examination, cross-examination attempted to investigating her knowledge of other individuals who were known to be sexually abused as children. It should be noted that on redirect by appellant's counsel further inquiry was made with regard to Dr. Mara's knowledge of former Senator Hawkins at which point Dr. Mara indicated that she had not examined her and had never evaluated her and therefore was unable to make any statements with regard to Paula Hawkins' mental status. (TR 2163, 2165). Moreover, in closing the state made no further mention of Paula Hawkins yet, defense counsel again informed the jury that Dr. Mara was not responsible nor had she evaluated Paula Hawkins regarding any sexual abuse she may have suffered as a child. (TR 2202).

The cross-examination sub judice was appropriate based on <u>Parkins v. State</u>, 238 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1970), and <u>Booker v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1981).

Appellant argues also that the inquiry of the prosecutor found on p. 2154 of the record that "Okay. During your interview with the defendant, did he articulate, speak to you in terms of any remorse concerning • • • "• was highly prejudicial and improper and therefore requires a new trial. The record reflects that at this point of the inquiry it was unclear as to what the question was going to be and apparently, the trial court, after listening to oral argument as to whether a mistrial or curative instructions should be granted denied both. Appellee would submit that although lack of remorse is not a proper aggravating factor with regard to the imposition of the death penalty, the inquiry in the instant case was so obscure and unrelated to whether appellant actually had remorse for the murders that at best, the harmless error analysis in light of the overwhelming evidence of quilt vitiates any harm sub judice. See <u>State v.</u> <u>DiGuilio</u>, <u>supra</u>.

### B. APPELLANT'S SPECIALLY REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

Numerous special jury instructions were requested by defense counsel at trial, three of which were denied and are the subject matter of the complaint herein. **(TR** 2766-2773). Appellant argues that because each of the instructions in particular, Instruction No.4, Instruction No. 6, and Instruction No. 7 purportedly state the law as established, the trial court erred in rejecting said instructions. Appellee would disagree. Α plethora of cases hold that were standard jury instructions are presented at the penalty phase and they adequately address or touch upon those specially requested instructions by defendant, error has not occurred. See Parker v. State, 456 So.2d 436 (Fla. 1984); Lemon v. State, 456 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1984); Vaught v. State, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982), and Delap v. State, 440 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 1983).

Further mention regarding Instruction No. 7 is necessary in light of the fact that the trial court in relying on <u>Herring v.</u> **State**, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984) concluded that the aggravating

- 28 -

factor of cold, calculated, and premeditated was appropriate. Although this court has receded from <u>Herring</u> in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987), the standard jury instruction provided herein adequately covered that aggravating factor. See <u>Rogers</u>, supra.

## C. THE FAILURE OF THE TRIAL COURT TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THEY MAY CONSIDER NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING EVIDENCE IN DETERMINING THE PROPER PENALTY RECOMMENDATION.

Appellant's last complaint regarding the jury instructions at the penalty phase provides reversible error occurred when the trial court neither instructed the jury with regard to the statutory mitigating evidence nor provided a "catch-all" instruction to the jury that "any other aspect of the defendant's character or record, and any other circumstances of the offense," could be considered in mitigation. Appellant argues that "although the instructions make mention of the mitigating circumstances, nowhere is the jury told what kind of mitigating factors they are permitted to consider. As is clear from Dr. Mara's testimony and the trial court's finding of fact, the defense presented evidence of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.'' (AB 42-43).

At the very worst the failure of the trial court to give an instruction that any other aspects of the defendant's character or record or any other circumstance of the offense may be considered in mitigation is harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. The record reflects that at the close of the instructions at the penalty phase, defense counsel asked to approach the bench

- 29 -
and informed that court that the defense neglected to ask the court 'to actually define what a nonstatutory mitigating factor was. (TR 2213). The state countered that they had indeed encouraged the jury to consider all the "evidence of mitigating circumstances and **so** it's not as if the state is saying that no mitigating evidence exist," (TR 2213). The trial court ultimately determined that he didn't believe the instruction was critical and further stated " I think it would create undue influence since it was not asked of me until after I completely read everything, including the verdict form," (TR 2219).

The failure to instruct the jury with regard to what the nature of non statutory mitigation might be viewed in the context of the record clearly is harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. No restrictions were placed on the jury as to what in mitigation they might consider. The instructions as presented specifically restricted the jury to three statutory aggravating factors and provided:

> Should You find sufficient aggravating circumstances to exist it is then your duty to determine whether mitigating circumstances exist that outweigh the aggravating circumstances.

> Each aggravating circumstance must be established beyond a reasonable doubt before it may be considered by you in arriving at your decision. If one or more aggravating circumstances are established, you should consider all the evidence tending to establish one or more mitigating circumstances and give that evidence such weight as you feel it should receive in reaching

your conclusion as to the sentence			
that should be imposed.			
A mitigating circumstance need not			
be proved	bevond	а	reasonable
doubt. If	you		reasonably
	that		mitiqatinq
circumstance exist, you may consider			
it as established.			

The sentence that you recommend to the court must be based upon the facts as you find them from the evidence in the law. You should weigh the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances and your advisory sentence should be based on these considerations. (TR 2210). (Emphasis added).

Neither the prosecution nor the trial court nor defense counsel in any way restricted what could be considered by the jury in mitigation. The prosecution in its closing argument stated:

> The judge is going to tell you that you first must consider these circumstances. Then you must weigh any mitigation that you find from the evidence that you heard during the trial and from the evidence presented by the defense side yesterday.

> I'm not going to elaborate on her testimony because you just heard it yesterday afternoon, but I submit to you she spent three hours with the man and did some drawing test and psychological test. She comes in here and tells you that he's an anti-social personality; he had a childhood, deprived and other factors that she gave you in her own opinion - - in her own opinion, she thinks that mitigates this murder. She doesn't know the facts of the murder.

Mr. Black asked her, "Did anybody bother telling you what the facts of this murder were?" "No " Therefore, I don't think she is in a position to come in here and tell you what is mitigating. You decide You decide if Mr. that. Castro's anti-social personality his or childhood. and the other deprived things you heard mitigates this kind (TR 2194-2195). of crime.

There is no doubt that Edward Castro murdered Austin Castro confessed and the state presented testimony of Scott. Robert McKnight who all but saw the dastardly deed done. The state put on no additional evidence at the penalty phase of the Castro (appellant's Statement of Facts (AB 9-10)), trial. presented the testimony of Dr. Barbara Mara an expert in clinical psychology who had examined Castro and detailed his background to the jury. She testified that appellant was apparently sexually abused at an early age, suffered from quilt and remorse about his early sexual encounters and, as a result thereof had become addicted to alcohol and drugs. She related that much of his problems were related to his alcohol use and drug abuse and that he suffered from bouts of depression and further suffers from a mixed personality disorder. In sum, Dr. Mara testified that the following mitigating factors exist with regard to Castro:

1. That he had a early history of neglect and abuse;

2. That he had an early history of incest;

3. That he had an early history of lack of belonging and alienation;

4. That he lacked development of conscience;

- 32 -

5. That he suffered from alcoholism and drug abuse.

Based on the totality of these circumstances, the jury returned a recommendation of death by a 10 to 2 vote. The trial court in reviewing the jury's recommendation and the facts and circumstances of the case concurred with the jury's recommendation and imposed death. His written findings found three statutory aggravating factors applicable and two non statutory mitigating factors applicable.

Appellee is not unmindful of the teachings of Hitchcock v. Dugger, 107 S.Ct. 1821 (1987), and Lockett v. Ohio, 98 S.Ct. 2954 (1978), however, the failure on the part of the trial court to provide instructions with regard to a definition of non statutory mitigating factors is harmless error. At its very worst, the omission herein resulted in a better situation then found under a "Hitchcock" violation, and this court has, on more then one occasion, concluded that where a Hitchcock violation occurs, harmless error will be applied if the totality of the circumstances demonstrate conclusively that neither the judge nor the jury would have been impacted by the "missing" instruction. See White v. Dugger, 523 So,2d 140 (Fla. 1988); Booker v. Dugger, 520 So.2d 246 (Fla. 1988); Demps v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1092 (Fla. 1987); Ford v. State, 522 So.2d 345 (Fla. 1988) and Delap v. Dugger, 513 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1987). Moreover, harmless

error should be found because no evidence was presented regarding statutory mitigating evidence and the <u>parties agreed that that</u> <u>particular instruction should not be read</u>. (TR 2217-2218). As observed in White v. Dugger:

on the totality of the circumstances of this case we can, and do, unhesitatingly find that the instant evidence of non statutory mitigating circumstances, if in fact not considered by the jury and/or the judge, would conclusively have no effect upon the recommendation of the death sentence imposed in this case. The charge which may have limited the jury a consideration of statutory mitigating circumstances was clearly harmless. 523 So.2d at 141.

Based on the foregoing, appellee would urge that the issues raised in Issue VII do not mandate reversal.

## ISSUE VIII

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